IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213564

IN THE MATTER OF: Estate of Robert Ross Dinkins

Mae Lee Dinkins,..... Appellant,

v.

Synovus Trust Company, N.A., Respondent,

William C. Cantey, Jr, Intervenor.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James Edward Bradley, SC Bar # 66130
Robert D. Hazel, SC Bar # 16842
Sarah Taylor Cassidy, SC Bar # 100774
Moore, Taylor & Thomas, P.A.
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160
Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED

AUG 01 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING CERTAIN ISSUES WERE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW?
2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE PROBATE COURT'S GRANTING COMPENSATION TO SYNOVUS TRUST FROM THE ESTATE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a Circuit Court order dated September 28, 2012, which affirmed the Sumter County Probate Court's order dated January 3, 2012.

On July 30, 1982, Robert Ross Dinkins executed his Last Will and Testament. Item VII of the Will named his wife, Mae Lee Dinkins and the National Bank of South Carolina (hereinafter referred to as "NBSC") as co-personal representatives of his estate. Mr. Dinkins died on April 11, 2008. At that time, NBSC had been purchased by Synovus Financial. Another subsidiary of Synovus Financial, Synovus Trust Company, N.A. (hereinafter referred to as "Synovus Trust"), and Mrs. Dinkins were appointed co-personal representatives on May 2, 2008.

Synovus Trust filed a Conditional Statement of Resignation on February 23, 2011, in the Sumter County Probate Court. It agreed to resign only after being awarded its fees. Thereafter, Mrs. Dinkins filed a Petition for Removal of Personal Representative on March 2, 2011. Mrs. Dinkins' Petition requested that the Court remove Synovus Trust because Synovus Trust refused to resign unless Mrs. Dinkins approved its fees or the Probate Court did so. The Honorable Dale Atkinson held a hearing on July 7, 2011, on both Mrs. Dinkins' Petition for Removal of Personal Representative and Synovus Trust's Request for Compensation.

On January 3, 2012, Judge Atkinson entered his Order Denying Petition for Removal of Personal Representative, Granting Request for Compensation, Accepting Resignation of Co-Personal Representative and Appointing Successor Co-Personal Representative and Trustee. In the Order, Judge Atkinson found no evidence or testimony had been presented supporting the removal of Synovus Trust as co-personal representative for cause, awarded Synovus Trust compensation of \$294,317.66, accepted Synovus Trust's resignation as co-personal representative, and appointed William C. Cantey, Jr. as successor co-personal representative of the Estate and sole trustee of all trusts established under the Last Will. The Probate Court also ordered the co-personal representatives to execute a note and give Synovus Trust a mortgage on property located at 601 Hazard Street, Pawley's Island, South Carolina, to secure payment of Synovus Trust's fees. According to the Order, the Pawley's Island Property was "the only Estate asset with sufficient equity to secure the compensation due Synovus Trust." (R. 7).

On January 11, 2012, Mrs. Dinkins filed a Motion for Reconsideration and/or Motion to Amend Judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP. Mrs. Dinkins had timely appealed the Order to the Circuit Court on January 9, 2012, to appeal the Probate Court's decision to award compensation to Synovus Trust. (R. 63, 70). *Compensation* includes both the fee amount payable to Synovus Trust and the security interest, a mortgage, ordered to secure such fee. Thereafter, William C. Cantey, Jr., as successor co-personal representative of the Estate, filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Intervene in this matter as a matter of right.

At the Circuit Court hearing on June 26, 2012, counsel for Mrs. Dinkins, Synovus Trust Company, N.A., and William C. Cantey, Jr., made legal arguments and submitted

briefs. Circuit Court Judge R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., granted Mr. Cantey's Motion to Intervene, denied Mrs. Dinkins' appeal and affirmed the Probate Order. (R. 24).

On October 10, 2012, Mrs. Dinkins filed a Motion for Reconsideration and/or Motion to Amend Judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. Judge Cothran denied this motion on November 29, 2012. Mrs. Dinkins filed a Notice of Appeal on December 10, 2012. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Robert Ross Dinkins was in the business of real estate development and management. (R. 99-100). The Decedent and his family's livelihood depended on income from the properties that he owned and managed. (R. 101). He executed his Last Will and Testament on July 30, 1982. (R. 2). Item VII of the Will named the National Bank of South Carolina ("NBSC") and his wife Mae Lee Dinkins as co-personal representatives of his estate. (R. 2).

Mr. Dinkins died on April 11, 2008. (R. 2). At that time, NBSC had been purchased by Synovus Financial. (R. 126). Another subsidiary of Synovus Financial, Synovus Trust Company, N.A. (hereinafter referred to as "Synovus Trust"), and Mrs. Dinkins were appointed co-personal representatives on May 2, 2008. (R. 2). Synovus Trust's employee Kristi Curtis filed the application for appointment which stated that NBSC is also known as Synovus Trust. (R. 246,127). According to Ms. Curtis, Synovus Trust is not the corporate successor to NBSC. (R. 125-126). Instead, it purchased the trust business from NBSC. *Id.* The Decedent had an approximately one million dollar debt with NBSC prior to his death. (R. 116). However, Synovus Trust also did not

disclose in its application for appointment that it is the Decedent's Estate's largest creditor. (R. 134-135).

Item X of the Will directed that NBSC receive compensation for its services as co-personal representative according to "its Standard Fee Schedule in effect and applicable at the time of the performance of such services." (R. 3). The April 2008 Fee Schedule in effect when Mr. Dinkins died indicates that compensation shall be "computed using [its] published fee schedule in effect at the time [it] begins those duties." (R. 137-138).

In August 2008, Synovus Trust revised its Co-Executor Compensation Schedule. (R. 3). In January 2009, Synovus Trust had Mrs. Dinkins sign the August 2008 Fee Schedule as co-personal representative. (R. 3, 255). The signing was done without the presence or advice of Mrs. Dinkins' attorney. The new schedule increased the fees by \$50,000. (R. 118). However, Mrs. Dinkins was not informed of this at the time of signing. (R. 118-123). In August 2010, Synovus Trust again revised its Co-Executor Compensation Schedule (hereinafter referred to as the "August 2010 Fee Schedule"). (R. 3).

Mrs. Dinkins was not happy with the way Synovus Trust managed the Estate. (R. 101, 106). The Estate consists primarily of real property. A substantial portion of the real property was not properly maintained and laid empty under Synovus Trust's management. (R. 104-105). The Dinkins family lived off the income from such property. (R. 101). Yet, when Synovus Trust began managing the property, the Estate began losing money instead of making money as it did prior to Synovus Trust's management. (R. 103).

Neither Synovus Trust nor any of its employees had a license to manage real estate, and Synovus Trust never hired a licensed real estate manager to manage the property. (R. 104). Additionally, the value in the property plummeted. The initial value of the Estate in April 2008 was \$7,567,376. (R. 151). However, by April 2011, the Estate was valued at \$5,312,606. (R. 152-153).

In early 2011, after the Estate had been under the management of Synovus Trust for over three years, Mrs. Dinkins repeatedly asked Synovus Trust to resign so that another person or entity could be appointed to properly manage the estate. (R. 104-105). After repeated requests by Mrs. Dinkins, Synovus Trust filed a Conditional Statement of Resignation in the Probate Court of Sumter County, South Carolina on February 23, 2011. Synovus Trust agreed to resign only after being awarded its fees. Mrs. Dinkins believed Synovus Trust was asking for excessive compensation for a poor job of managing an estate. Subsequently, she filed a petition to have Synovus Trust removed as co-personal representative on March 2, 2011.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE PROBATE COURT HAS THE LEGAL AUTHORITY TO ORDER A PARTY TO LITIGATION TO EXECUTE A PROMISSORY NOTE OR MORTGAGE WAS NOT PRESERVED.
 - A. The Circuit Court erred in ruling the issue of whether the Probate Court has the legal authority to order a party to litigation to execute a promissory note or mortgage was not preserved for appellate review because such issue was raised and ruled upon by the Probate Court and was preserved by the Appellant's Rule 59(e) motion.

The Circuit Court failed to recognize that the Probate Court does not have the legal authority to force a party to litigation to execute a promissory note or mortgage. The Order states this issue was “never raised to or ruled upon by the Probate Court.” (R.

29). “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” Nicholson v. Nicholson, 378 S.C. 523, 537, 663 S.E.2d 74, 81 (Ct. App. 2008) (citations and quotations omitted). “If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). The South Carolina Court of Appeals identified “a ruling by the trial court or a post-trial motion as the two ways to preserve an issue for appeal.” Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 633 S.E.2d 505 (2006).

The prayer for relief in the Respondent’s “Request for Compensation” clearly raised this issue before the Probate Court. Petitioner also argued the Court did not have the authority to force such relief during the closing of the hearing in the Probate Court. (R. 245). By the Probate Court granting such relief, the Probate Court clearly ruled upon this issue.

Furthermore, a proper Rule 59(e) motion was filed and recorded in the Sumter County Probate Court on January 11, 2012. The issue of the Probate Court’s authority to execute a promissory note and mortgage falls within the grounds of “unreasonable compensation” which was raised on page 3, paragraph 7 of the motion. Black’s Law Dictionary defines “compensation” as “[r]emuneration and other benefits received in return for services rendered.”¹ The security interest clearly falls under “other benefits” as that term is used in the prior Motion for Reconsideration filed by the Appellant.

¹ Black’s Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009), available at Westlaw BLACKS.

Judge Atkinson never ruled upon the 59(e) motion. However, South Carolina courts have found that an issue properly raised in a 59(e) motion is preserved for appellate review even though the lower court never ruled on the issue. “[L]awyers cannot force trial courts to address an issue, and a proper Rule 59 request is sufficient without a specific judicial decision on the issue.” Sierra Club v. S. Carolina Dept. of Health & Envntl. Control, 387 S.C. 424, 434, 693 S.E.2d 13, 18 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting Pye at 566, 633 S.E.2d at 511).² Therefore, because the Appellant also properly filed a Rule 59(e) motion with the Probate Court, the issue of whether the Probate Court had the authority to order the note and mortgage was preserved for appellate review even though the Probate Court did not specifically rule on such issue.

Because the matter of the Probate Court’s lack of authority to order the note and mortgage was raised to the Probate Court and the Rule 59(e) motion further preserved the issue for appeal, the issue regarding the note and mortgage was properly before the Circuit Court, and the Court should have ruled upon it.

- B. On the merits, the Probate Court erred by ordering compensation to Synovus Trust from the estate as there is no legal basis for supporting the order of a security interest and such order is contrary to the language of South Carolina Code Section 62-3-805.

The Probate Court erred by ordering compensation to Synovus Trust and violated the clear, unambiguous and plain language of South Carolina Code Section 62-3-805 by rewriting the statute to change the order of priority of payment of creditors’ claims and administration expenses. There is no legal basis for ordering the co-personal

² See. “Once the issue has been properly raised by a Rule 59(e) motion, it appears that it is preserved and a second motion is not required if the trial court does not specifically rule on the issue so raised.” Coward Hund Const. Co., Inc. v. Ball Corp., 336 S.C. 1, 4, 518 S.E.2d 56, 58 (Ct.App.1999) (quoting James F. Flanagan South Carolina Civil Procedure 475 (2d ed.1996)).

representatives to execute a note and grant a mortgage in Estate property. By granting this relief the Probate Court completely disregarded the express terms of Code Section 62-3-805 which governs the order of priority of payment of claims and expenses. The Probate Court's order overrides the application of this provision and should therefore be reversed.

This is a question of statutory interpretation, and this Court need not give any deference to the lower court's ruling. "The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature." Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." Id. "When a statute's terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning." Miller v. Aiken, 364 S.C. 303, 613 S.E.2d 364 (2005). "Where the language of the statute is clear and explicit, the court cannot rewrite the statute and inject matters into it which are not in the legislature's language." City of Camden v. Brassell, 326 S.C. 556, 561, 486 S.E.2d 492, 495 (Ct. App. 1997).

The order of payment of creditors' claims and administration expenses of an estate is governed by South Carolina Code Section 62-3-805. By its Order for compensation, the Probate Court changed the statute by changing the order of payment of administration expenses and creditors' claims and favored one creditor over all others. The Order makes Synovus Trust a secured creditor that has priority over all other creditors' claims and administration expenses. See S.C. Attorney General's Opinion

which provides that “[c]reditor holding security interest would have priority over, or at least be accorded more preferential treatment than, persons or entities who would be paid pursuant to classification scheme established in Section 62-3-805(a)(1), (2), and (3).” 1990 S.C. Op. Att’y Gen. 169 (1990).

In light of the above, the Probate Court violated the language of the statute and intent of the legislature by rewriting the statute and changing the order of priority for payment of creditors’ claims and administration expenses. Therefore, the Probate Court’s order should be reversed as the probate judge does not have the authority to require the personal representative to execute a mortgage to guarantee the payment of Synovus Trust’s fees.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE ISSUE OF WHETHER SYNOVUS TRUST’S FEES ACCRUED FOR LONGER THAN THEY SHOULD WAS NOT PRESERVED.

A. The issue of whether Synovus Trust’s fees accrued for longer than they should was preserved because such issue was raised and ruled upon by the Probate Court and was preserved by the Appellant’s Rule 59(e) motion.

The Court failed to recognize that Synovus Trust charged fees for nearly a year and one-half beyond what it was entitled under its own fee schedule. The Order states this issue was “never raised to or ruled upon by the Probate Court.” (R. 34). However, a motion for reconsideration and/or motion to amend judgment was filed and this issue falls within the grounds of “unreasonable compensation” which was raised on page 3, paragraph 7 of the motion. Furthermore, the issue with the fee schedule was raised in the Probate Court on multiple occasions. (R. 139, 161, 162). Therefore, since the issue was raised and ruled upon in the Probate Court and a motion for reconsideration was filed, this issue was preserved for appeal and is properly before this Court.

- B. On the merits, the Probate Court erred in awarding Synovus Trust compensation because Synovus Trust charged fees for nearly a year and one-half beyond what it was entitled under its own fee schedule.

Pursuant to the April 2008 Fee Schedule, “[t]he account will be charged at these annual rates until the *earlier* of receipt of the Estate Tax Closing Letter or when the estate’s administration is substantially completed” (emphasis added). (R. 266). This was the fee schedule in place at the time Synovus Trust was appointed. On October 28, 2009, the Internal Revenue Service sent the Estate Tax Closing Letter. (R. 266). Thus, Synovus Trust is not entitled to collect fees past October 28, 2009. Despite the Fee Schedule, Synovus Trust continued to charge fees past this date, at a rate of approximately \$4,600 per month for the following 17 months totaling nearly \$83,000 in excessive fees. These charges were not permitted by the terms of the Synovus Trust Fee Schedule.

In addition to charging fees not allowed in its own fee schedule, Synovus Trust violated the South Carolina Probate Code by failing to close the estate in a timely manner. Pursuant to Code Section 62-3-1001, an estate must be closed “within one year after the date of the first publication of notice to creditors, or within ninety days after the receipt of a state or federal estate tax closing letter, whichever is later.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1001 (2012). Under this statute, Synovus Trust had a duty to close the estate within one year or within ninety days after receipt of the federal estate tax closing letter.

By October 28, 2009, the Estate of Robert Ross Dinkins had been open for nearly a year and a half. On this date, Synovus Trust received the estate tax closing letter from the IRS. In the nearly three years since Synovus Trust received the closing letter from the IRS, Synovus Trust had not closed the estate. All the while, Synovus Trust has

unilaterally increased its own fees and stuck the estate with the bill. The purpose of South Carolina Code Section 62-3-1001 is to protect estates from excessive fees charged by personal representatives based on a failure to expeditiously close an estate. Here, Synovus Trust failed to close the estate as required by statute and continued to charge fees well beyond the statutorily imposed date. This Court should reverse the Probate Court's award of compensation because it awards fees far beyond what Synovus Trust is entitled to.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE PROBATE COURT'S AWARD OF COMPENSATION TO SYNOVUS TRUST BECAUSE THE COMPENSATION IS UNREASONABLE AND UNSUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE.

Appeals from the Probate Court are governed by South Carolina Code Section 62-1-308. Subsection (d) of that statute provides that the Circuit Court "shall hear and determine the appeal according to the rules of law." S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308(d) (2012). "As used in this statute, the phrase 'according to the rules of law' means according to the rules governing appeals." In re Howard, 315 S.C. 356, 360, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257 (1993). Thus, in the absence of a statute or rule prescribing a different standard of review, "the circuit court must apply the same standard that the appellate court would apply were the appeal taken directly to either the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals." Univ. of S. Cal. v. Moran, 365 S.C. 270, 274, 617 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 2005) (citations and quotations omitted).

"The standard of review applicable to cases originating in the probate court depends upon whether the underlying cause of action is at law or in equity." Id. In this case, the Appellant appealed the Probate Court's award of compensation to Synovus Trust. See Notice of Appeal ("The Appellant will seek a trial appealing the Probate

Court's decision to award compensation to Synovus Trust Company, N.A.") and Grounds for Appeal ("Mae Lee Dinkins hereby sets forth the following grounds for her appeal from the Order granting Respondent's Request for Compensation as Co-Personal Representative and Trustee of the subject estate"). The award of compensation has two components: (a) the amount of the fee and (b) security for payment of the fee.

A dispute over the appropriate amount of money to be paid by one party to another is a legal dispute. "On appeal from an action at law that was tried without a jury, the appellate court can correct errors of law, but the findings of fact will not be disturbed unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings." Townes Assoc. Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

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