THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213564
Civil Action No. 2012-CP-43-00302

RECEIVED
AUG 01 2013
SC COURT OF APPEALS

In the Matter of: Estate of Robert Ross Dinkins

Mae Lee Dinkins,.....Appellant,

v.

Synovus Trust Company, N.A.,.....Respondent,

William C. Cantey, Jr.,.....Intervenor.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Matthew G. Gerrald, S.C. Bar No. 76236
Barnes, Alford, Stork & Johnson, LLP
1613 Main Street (29201)
Post Office Box 8448
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 799-1111
Attorneys for Respondent
Synovus Trust Company, N.A.

August 1, 2013

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

ARGUMENTS

I. CERTAIN ISSUES ARGUED BY THE APPELLANT WERE NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW AND WERE NOT RAISED ON APPEAL.

- A. The alleged impropriety of the Probate Order's command that the Estate execute a promissory note and mortgage was not raised to and ruled upon by the Probate Court.

“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” Nicholson v. Nicholson, 378 S.C. 523, 537, 663 S.E.2d 74, 81 (Ct. App. 2008) (citations and quotations omitted). “Without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error.” Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 103, 594 S.E.2d 485, 498 (Ct. App. 2004) (citations and quotations omitted). “If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review.” I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). “An issue is not preserved where the trial court does not explicitly rule on an argument and the appellant does not make a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend the judgment.” Nicholson, 378 S.C. at 537, 663 S.E.2d at 82. This principle “is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments” and “prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” I'On, LLC, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724.

In addition to awarding compensation to Synovus Trust, the Probate Order commanded the Estate to execute a promissory note and mortgage in favor of Synovus Trust. (R. p. 9). At the Circuit Court hearing on the merits of her appeal, the Appellant argued, for the first time, that it was improper for the Probate Court to issue such a command. Fatal to that argument, however, was the Appellant's and Mr. Cantey's acknowledgement that the issue had never been raised to and ruled upon by the Probate Court. The Appellant protested in her Circuit Court brief that "[t]he terms of these documents were never negotiated by any party" and that she "was unaware of their existence until the Probate Court commanded their execution." (R. p. 95). Mr. Cantey agreed this issue had not been raised to the Probate Court, writing in support of his Motion to Intervene that his "argument regarding the Probate Court's abuse of discretion by ordering the execution of the Note and Mortgage in Synovus Trust's favor was never advanced by any of the parties involved" and that the issue "was first brought to light by Mr. Cantey's Brief in Support of the Appeal." (R. p. 91). Indeed, that the Appellant had not previously made this argument—and was not even capable or willing to do so—was virtually the entire basis for Mr. Cantey's intervention in the appeal. (R. pp. 90-93). Accordingly, the Circuit Court found the issue was not preserved for appellate review.

The Appellant now argues, despite her prior concessions to the contrary, that the propriety of the Probate Order's command that the Estate execute a promissory note and mortgage was, in fact, raised to and ruled upon by the Probate Court. However, she is judicially estopped to change her position on this issue. "Judicial estoppel precludes a party from adopting a position in conflict with one earlier taken in the same or related litigation." Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey, 327 S.C. 242, 251, 489 S.E.2d 472, 477

(1997). She has “formally asserted a certain version of the facts in litigation” and cannot now “change those facts when the initial version no longer suits [her].” *Id.* at 252, 489 S.E.2d at 477.

Beyond being judicially estopped, however, the Appellant is simply wrong to assert that the note/mortgage issue has been properly preserved for appellate review. In support of her new position, the Appellant cites Synovus Trust’s Request for Compensation, a brief comment made by her counsel at the conclusion of the July 7, 2011 hearing before Judge Atkinson, and a Rule 59(e) motion she filed with the Probate Court on January 11, 2012. However, she has already acknowledged that the Request for Compensation did not raise the issue of whether a Probate Court may command an Estate to execute a promissory note and mortgage to secure the fees due a Personal Representative, writing that even though Synovus Trust’s Request for Compensation sought “security for the compensation,” “[t]here was no indication Synovus [Trust] was seeking to force the Estate to execute a promissory note and mortgage in favor of Synovus [Trust].” (R. p. 95). Moreover, she has acknowledged that the issue was not argued at the July 7, 2011 hearing, asserting: “During the hearing, Synovus [Trust] mentioned it was seeking ‘security’ but did not articulate its argument in favor of a promissory note and mortgage at the hearing.” (R. p. 95).

As for the Rule 59(e) motion the Appellant filed with the Probate Court on January 11, 2012, it cannot reasonably be read to have properly challenged the Probate Order’s command regarding the promissory note and mortgage. A Rule 59(e) motion is required to *specifically* raise the issues the movant wants addressed. *See, e.g., Bean v. S.C. Cent. R.R. Co.*, 392 S.C. 532, 554, 709 S.E.2d 99, 111 (Ct. App. 2011) (“We note

that this argument is not preserved for review because [the appellant] failed to make this *specific* fraud argument to the circuit court or raise it in a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend.”) (emphasis added); Hatfield v. Hatfield, 327 S.C. 360, 369, 489 S.E.2d 212, 217 (Ct. App. 1997) (holding that an issue was not preserved for review because the Rule 59(e) motion did not specifically raise the issue and the judge did not address it in his ruling on the motion); Skinner v. Elrod, 308 S.C. 239, 243, 417 S.E.2d 599, 602 (Ct. App. 1992) (“[Appellant] made no motion under Rule 59(e), SCRCP for the master to alter or amend his order to consider this *specific* allegation. Therefore, the issue is not properly preserved for review.”) (emphasis added). The motion’s generic assertion that Synovus Trust sought “unreasonable compensation” simply was not specific enough to alert the Probate Court, Synovus Trust, or anyone else that the Appellant was challenging the authority of the Probate Court to order the execution of a promissory note and mortgage. Indeed, paragraph 7 of the motion contained six subparagraphs specifically addressing several particular issues, but the note/mortgage issue was not among them. (R. p. 68, ¶ 7).

Moreover, an issue must not only be *raised* to the trial judge, it must also be *ruled upon* in order to be preserved for appellate review. Nicholson, 378 S.C. at 537, 663 S.E.2d at 81 (Ct. App. 2008). “*Without an initial ruling by the trial court*, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error.” Ellie, 358 S.C. at 103, 594 S.E.2d at 498 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added) (citations and quotations omitted). Judge Atkinson never decided the Appellant’s Rule 59(e) motion because it was filed *after* the Appellant had already appealed the Probate Order to the Circuit Court, and thus the Probate Court had no jurisdiction to address the motion

pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308(c) (2009). The motion was a veritable nullity from the moment it was filed. Accordingly, even if the note/mortgage issue was properly raised in the Appellant's Rule 59(e) motion—it was not—it is unquestionable that it was never ruled upon by the Probate Court because that court never had jurisdiction to consider the motion.

That the note/mortgage issue was not raised to and ruled upon by the Probate Court is highlighted by the argument the Appellant makes on the merits of the issue.⁴ She argues that by ordering the Estate to execute a promissory note and mortgage in favor of Synovus Trust, the Probate Court violated S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-805 (2009), which governs the priority of claims against certain estates. However, she cannot point to anything indicating this argument was ever made to or addressed by the Probate Court. The fact is that the Probate Court never considered whether it may have violated Section 62-3-805 because it was never asked to do so. Accordingly, this argument is not preserved for review, for “[w]ithout an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error.” Ellie, 358 S.C. at 103, 594 S.E.2d at 498 (citations and quotations omitted).

The Circuit Court correctly held that the alleged impropriety of the Probate Order's command that the Estate execute a promissory note and mortgage was not properly preserved for appellate review.

⁴ The merits are discussed in Section IV(A), infra, as an alternate sustaining ground.

- B. The alleged impropriety of the Probate Order's command that the Estate execute a promissory note and mortgage was not listed in the Grounds for Appeal and, therefore, was not among the issues to be considered by the Circuit Court.

Even if the note/mortgage issue was properly preserved for appellate review, it was not listed in the Appellant's Grounds for Appeal and, therefore, was not among the issues to be considered by the Circuit Court (or any other reviewing court). The grounds of appeal is required by S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308(a) (2009). "[T]he filing and service of the grounds of appeal . . . are integral parts of the right of appeal from probate court to circuit court." Montgomery v. Keziah, 277 S.C. 84, 85, 282 S.E.2d 853, 854 (1981). Moreover, the grounds of appeal is a jurisdictional document. See, e.g., Gallagher v. Evert, 353 S.C. 59, 68, 577 S.E.2d 217, 221 (Ct. App. 2002) (finding that the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to address issues not timely raised in the appellant's grounds for appeal). It provides notice to the responding party of the issues which will be presented to the appellate court and is "necessary for the orderly function of the appellate process." Montgomery, 277 S.C. at 85, 282 S.E.2d at 854.

The Appellant's Grounds for Appeal lists four issues—the first of which contains nine subparts—to be considered on appeal. The alleged impropriety of the Probate Court's command that the Estate execute a promissory note and mortgage is not among them. There is no indication in the Grounds for Appeal that the Appellant intended to challenge the Probate Court's authority to command the execution of a promissory note and mortgage. The Appellant raised that issue for the first time at the appeal hearing on June 26, 2012, over four months after the time for filing and serving the grounds of appeal had passed. "A portion of a judgment that is not appealed presents no issue for determination by the reviewing court and constitutes, rightly or wrongly, the law of the

case.” Austin v. Specialty Transp. Servs., Inc., 358 S.C. 298, 320, 594 S.E.2d 867, 878 (Ct. App. 2004). See also Ulmer v. Ulmer, 369 S.C. 486, 491, 632 S.E.2d 858, 861 (2006) (holding that, because no appeal was taken as to a probate court ruling, the ruling could not be modified on appeal even if the issue presented thereby had been preserved); Rumpf v. Massachusetts Mut. Life Ins. Co., 357 S.C. 386, 398, 593 S.E.2d 183, 189 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Any unappealed portion of the trial court’s judgment is the law of the case, and must therefore be affirmed.”); Matter of Morrison, 321 S.C. 370, 372, 468 S.E.2d 651, 652 n.2 (1996) (“This ruling is the law of the case since it is not contested on appeal.”); Nat’l Grange Mut. Ins. Co. v. Firemen’s Ins. Co. of Newark, N.J., 310 S.C. 116, 121, 425 S.E.2d 754, 758 n.5 (Ct. App. 1992) (“The unappealed portion of a lower court’s judgment presents no issue for review by this court and becomes the law of the case.”). Accordingly, this issue is not among those to be reviewed on appeal.

- C. The arguments that Synovus Trust’s fees accrued beyond the proper time and that Synovus Trust failed to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1001 (Supp. 2012) likewise were not raised to and ruled upon by the Probate Court and were not listed in the Grounds for Appeal.

As with the note/mortgage issue, the Appellant’s arguments that the accrual of Synovus Trust’s fees should have ceased on or about October 28, 2009 and that Synovus Trust failed to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1001 (Supp. 2012) are not preserved for appellate review. The Appellant has not cited any argument or testimony from the July 7, 2011 hearing before Judge Atkinson relating to these issues. And although the Appellant did file a Rule 59(e) motion with the Probate Court, it did not raise the specific issues regarding the appropriate period of accrual of Synovus Trust’s fees or of Synovus Trust’s alleged failure to comply with Section 62-3-1001. Nothing in the motion, including the Appellant’s protest that the Probate Order awarded “unreasonable

compensation” to Synovus Trust, was sufficiently specific to place a reasonable observer on notice that the Appellant was challenging the Probate Court’s award of fees to Synovus Trust beyond a certain identified date or alleging Synovus Trust’s noncompliance with Section 62-3-1001. Moreover, as discussed above, Judge Atkinson never ruled on the Rule 59(e) motion—as he must have done in order for any novel issues raised therein to be preserved—because the Appellant deprived him of jurisdiction to do so prior to filing the motion by filing a Notice of Intent to Appeal the Probate Order. Accordingly, these issues are not preserved for review for the reasons set forth in Section I(A), supra.

Also like the note/mortgage issue, these issues were not included among the Appellant’s Grounds for Appeal. The Grounds for Appeal contained no indication that the Appellant intended to challenge the time period during which Synovus Trust’s fees accrued or allege that Synovus Trust violated Section 62-3-1001. These issues were raised for the first time at the appeal hearing on June 26, 2012. Accordingly, they are not among the issues to be reviewed on appeal for the reasons set forth in Section I(B), supra.

II. THE APPELLANT HAS NOT CARRIED HER BURDEN OF ESTABLISHING THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD SUPPORTING THE PROBATE ORDER’S FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS.

Appeals from the Probate Court are governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308 (2009). Subsection (d) of that statute provides that the circuit court “shall hear and determine the appeal according to the rules of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308(d) (2009). “As used in this statute, the phrase ‘according to the rules of law’ means according to the rules governing appeals.” In re Howard, 315 S.C. 356, 360, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257 (1993). Thus, in the absence of a statute or rule prescribing a different standard

of review, “the circuit court must apply the same standard that the appellate court would apply were the appeal taken directly to either the supreme court or court of appeals.” Univ. of S. Cal. v. Moran, 365 S.C. 270, 274, 617 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 2005) (citations and quotations omitted).

“The standard of review applicable to cases originating in the probate court depends upon whether the underlying cause of action is at law or in equity.” Id. “If the proceeding in the probate court is in the nature of an action at law, the circuit court and the appellate court may not disturb the probate court’s findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses there is *no evidence* to support them.” In re Estate of Pallister, 363 S.C. 437, 447, 611 S.E.2d 250, 256 (2005) (emphasis added). See also In re Estate of Watford, 305 S.C. 535, 537, 409 S.E.2d 791, 792 (Ct. App. 1991) (applying the abuse of discretion standard in a review of the probate court’s decision regarding a personal representative’s commission). In this case, the Appellant has only appealed the Probate Order’s award of fees to Synovus Trust. A dispute over the appropriate amount of money to be paid by one party to another is clearly a legal dispute, and thus the Appellant must demonstrate that the record contains *no evidence* supporting the Probate Order’s findings and conclusions. She has failed to do so.

A. There is ample evidence in the record supporting the Probate Order’s findings and conclusions.

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